Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

Johannah Bright, Lisa Tapp, and Pia Merlo-Schmucker, Appellees/ Respondents, v. Sherman Sorensen, M.D.; Sorensen Cardiovascular Group; St. Mark's Hospital; and Ihc Health Services, Inc., Appellants/Petitioners: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

The central question in this appeal is whether a plaintiff can circumvent the clearly stated repose period in the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act ("the Act") by broadly alleging that the health care provider affirmatively acted fraudulently to conceal his misconduct. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-404. Utah law makes clear that a statute of repose cannot be equitably tolled. Jensen v. Intermountain Healthcare, *Inc.*, 2018 UT 27, ¶ 30 n.5, 424 P.3d 885. Indeed, by their very nature, statutes of repose "generally may not be tolled, even in cases of extraordinary circumstances beyond a plaintiff's control." CTS Corp. v. Waldburger, 573 U.S. 1, 9 (2014) (explaining that "a repose period is fixed and its expiration will not be delayed by estoppel or tolling" (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). "Statutes of repose effect a legislative judgment that a defendant should be free from liability after legislatively determined period of time." Id. (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, the answer is clear, something more than a conclusory allegation is necessary to overcome the Act's repose period, if at all possible.

In this appeal, Appellees each commenced malpractice actions against the Appellants, alleging that they underwent medically unnecessary procedures performed by Dr. Sherman Sorensen. They also allege that the hospital at which

the procedure was performed knew Dr. Sorensen performed an unusually high number of cardiac procedures and encouraged Dr. Sorensen business for financial gain. Each Appellee alleges that they underwent the procedure between 2008 and 010. They also allege that Dr. Sorensen stopped performing these procedures in 2012. But none of the Appellees commenced their malpractice actions until January 2017 or later. Thus, it is generally undisputed that Appellees actions are time-barred by the Act's four-year repose period. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-404(1).

Appellees nevertheless broadly allege that they may proceed under a statutory exception in the Act that allows for more time to commence an action when the medical provider affirmatively and fraudulently concealed his malpractice. *Id.* § 78B-3-404(2)(b). The Act specifically provides:

[I]n an action where it is alleged that a patient has been prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of a health care provider because that health care provider has affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct, the claim shall be barred unless commenced within one year after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the fraudulent concealment, whichever first occurs.

Id. But the district court generally concluded that a plaintiff need not allege fraudulent concealment or equitable tolling with any level of particularity because

they were not expected to plead facts in anticipation of affirmative defenses. This cannot be correct.

When read as a whole, the Act's repose period serves no other purpose than to provide a maximum cutoff for filing claims. The Legislature explicitly explained that the purpose of the Act was to "provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced against health care providers while limiting that time to a specific period." Id. § 78B-3-402(3). As such, the statute of repose may not be tolled.

In any event, "when the dates given in the complaint make clear that the right sued upon has been extinguished, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing a factual basis for tolling the statute." Aldrich v. McCulloch Props., Inc., 627 F.2d 1036, 1041 n.4 (10th Cir. 1980) (concluding statute of repose question may be decided on 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss); Young Res. Ltd. P'ship v. Promontory Landfill LLC, 2018 UT App 99, ¶ 31, 427 P.3d 457 ("[W]hen the face of the complaint would otherwise establish that the claims are time-barred, a plaintiff presumably bears some burden to invoke the discovery rule."). To meet this burden at the pleading stage, the plaintiff must plead facts sufficient to toll the applicable limitations period. Tolle v. Fenley, 2006 UT App 78, ¶ 55, 132 P.3d 63; accord Tracey v. Blood, 3 P.2d 263, 266 (Utah 1931) ("Apparently all courts are agreed, and in this

case it is conceded that the burden was upon the plaintiff to plead and prove facts sufficient to toll the statute of limitations."). Indeed, by the plain language of the statutory exception, a plaintiff must allege certain information including fraud and some affirmative act on the health care provider's part to trigger the exception. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-404(2)(b).

Moreover, "the plaintiff must make an initial showing that he did not know nor should he have reasonably known the facts underlying the cause of action in time to reasonably comply with the limitations period." *Young Res.*, 2018 UT App 99, ¶ 27 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). "If a plaintiff had no such burden, 'a statute of limitations defense that is subject to the discovery rule could never be successfully asserted in a motion to dismiss, and that is clearly not the rule." *Id.* ¶ 31 (quoting *Butler v. Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Inc.*, 2006-NMCA-084, ¶ 33, 140 P.3d 532).

The Amended Complaints allege no facts showing that, even taken as true, Dr. Sorensen affirmatively acted fraudulently to conceal his misconduct. Appellees failed to plead fraudulent concealment with any level of particularity as required by Rule 9(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Moreover, they completely failed to allege facts that can show that they were diligent in pursuing

their claim, that can show their actions were commenced within one year from discovering the alleged fraud, or that can show how the alleged concealment prevented discovery. Thus, considering the purpose of the repose period and that they have done nothing to show that they were prevented from discovering their cause of action, Appellees' claims fail as a matter of law and should be dismissed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. *Issue*: The first issue turns on whether the Act's repose period can be tolled by a simple allegation of fraudulent concealment under the Statute's plain language.

Preservation of Issue: (Bright 26–27, 245–247, 379–80, 658–59; Merlo 169–171, 401–02, 629–63, 663; Tapp 333.)

Standard of Review: This issue presents a statutory construction question that appellate courts review for correctness. Jensen v. Intermountain Healthcare, Inc., 2018 UT 27, ¶ 5, 424 P.3d 885.

2. *Issue*: The second issue is whether the trial courts erred when it determined that Appellees were not required to plead the Act's fraudulent concealment exception with any amount of particularity.

Preservation of Issue: (Bright 382–383; Merlo 401–03; Tapp 337–38.)

Standard of Review: This issue also presents a statutory construction question that appellate courts review for correctness. *Id.* Moreover, reviewing a court's decision to grant or deny rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is a question of law, which the appellate court reviews for correctness. *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Big Ditch Irrigation Co.*, 2011 UT 33, ¶ 19, 258 P.3d 539.

3. *Issue*: The third issue is whether Appellees sufficiently pleaded their claim for fraudulent concealment to survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Preservation of Issue: (Bright 247–248, 380–81, 441; Merlo 177–180; Tapp 333–337.)

Standard of Review: "A rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss admits the facts alleged in the complaint, but challenges the plaintiff's right to relief based on those facts." Russell v. Standard Corp., 898 P.2d 263, 264 (Utah 1995). But legal conclusions, deductions, or opinions couched as fact do not bind the court. As such, the court looks to the sufficiency of the pleadings, Oakwood Village LLC v. Albertsons, Inc., 2004 UT 101, ¶¶ 8–9, 104 P.3d 1226, giving no deference to the district court's determination, Osguthorpe v. Wolf Mtn. Resorts, LC, 2010 UT 29, ¶¶ 10–11, 232 P.3d 999.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The three cases in this appeal are just a few of more than a thousand making their way through litigation. Although the exact details of each case differ somewhat, the pertinent allegations in each of the cases are the same. Every plaintiff is a former patient of Dr. Sorensen. Dr. Sorensen, an interventional cardiologist, specialized in treating defects in the wall of tissue that separates the upper chambers of the heart, commonly referred to as "holes in the heart." He had privileges at various hospitals in the Salt Lake valley, including St. Mark's Hospital and Intermountain Medical Center. Dr. Sorensen retired in 2012.

In particular, between 2002 and 2012, Dr. Sorensen performed procedures to close the holes in the heart. (Bright 85–87, Merlo 98–105, Tapp 124–132.) Depending on the location and particularities of the defect, the opening is known as a patent foramen ovale ("PFO") or atrial septal defect ("ASD"). (Id.) These conditions are associated with an increased risk of stroke because blood clots can pass through the defect, bypassing the lungs, and travel to the brain. (Id.) Treatment for a PFO or ASD is accomplished by closing the defect using one of several devices designed for this purpose. The device is placed by echo-guided

cardiac catheter through the femoral artery. After the device is placed, over time, tissue grows over the device and completely closes the defect.

Appellees generally allege that Dr. Sorensen misrepresented that the PFO/ASD procedure was absolutely necessary as opposed to elective or merely preventative. (Bright 82–102; Merlo 122–148; Tapp 96–115.) They assert Dr. Sorensen fraudulently induced them into having the procedure. Appellees also allege that Dr. Sorensen made fraudulent notations in their medical records to justify the procedures. Furthermore, they allege that the hospitals knew of Dr. Sorensen's fraud or misrepresentations and encouraged him for financial gain.

Based on the Salient Dates in the Complaint Appellees' Actions Were Filed Past the Act's Four-Year Statute of Repose

Appellees' allegations make clear that their claims were commenced more than four years after Dr. Sorensen's alleged misconduct. Indeed, they allege that Dr. Sorensen only performed procedures or practiced until 2012. All malpractice actions were commenced in January 2017 or later. (Bright 3-9, 87–92; Merlo 4-8, 98–105; Tapp 5–9, 126–138.)

In particular, Appellee Johannah Bright underwent PSO closure on December 15, 2009, but did not request prelitigation review of her medical malpractice claim until January 2, 2017. (Bright 4–9, 69, 87–92.) After the

conclusion of the statutorily required administrative procedures before DOPL, Ms. Bright filed her complaint on September 25, 2017, alleging medical malpractice claims against Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's. (*Id.* at 17.) Ms. Bright alleges that she only discovered the alleged misconduct until "recently . . . as a result [of] lawyer advertising." (*Id.* at 131.)

With regard to Appellee Pia Merlo-Schmucker, she started seeing Dr. Sorensen in 2010 and underwent a closure procedure on February 10, 2011. (Merlo 98–101.) But Ms. Merlo-Schmucker did not request prelitigation review until January 3, 2017 (*Id.* at 184) and did not file her complaint against Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's until September 26, 2017 (*Id.* at 16). She has made virtually identical allegations as Ms. Bright, asserting that she did not discover the alleged misconduct until "recently . . . as a result [of] lawyer advertising." (*Id.* at 105.)

Appellee Lisa Tapp underwent a PFO procedure September 18, 2008 and was seen by Dr. Sorensen until October 2008. (Tapp 7–9, 132–38.) But she did not request prelitigation review until January 17, 2017 (*Id.* at 82) and only filed her action against Dr. Sorensen and IHC in the district court on August 4, 2017 (*Id.* at 17). Ms. Tapp's alleges she learned of Dr. Sorensen's alleged misconduct "through lawyer advertising in 2017." (*Id.* at 145.) She claims she "did not know, nor should

have known, of the cause of action against Defendants prior to being put on notice . . . in 2017."¹ (*Id.* at 146.)

Fraudulent Concealment Allegations

To circumvent the Act's four-year statute of repose, Appellees alleged "Fraudulent Non-Disclosure/Concealment" and "Equitable Tolling/Fraudulent Concealment." These claims were made in Appellees' first complaints. (Bright 12–13, 16–17; Merlo-Schmucker 11–12, 15–16; Tapp 13, 16–17.) They even amended their complaints to include additional factual allegations apparently to support these claims. (Bright 96–97, 99–11; Merlo-Schmucker 109–110, 112–113; Tapp 142, 145–146.)

Each Appellees' allegations are virtually identical to the other. Indeed, the allegations are so conclusory and broad that the allegations could apply to any plaintiff. The allegations show nothing about Appellees' specific inability to discover their cause of action or any specific subsequent action by Dr. Sorensen designed to conceal their cause of action. At most, Appellees re-allege the original

^{1.} Notably, Ms. Tapp asserts that she did not discover the alleged misconduct until 2017 (Tapp 145) but filed her notice to commence an action in November 2016 (*Id.* at 82, 91–95).

tortious behavior that purportedly induced them to have the elective procedure.

Specifically, Ms. Bright alleges:

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: FRAUDULENT NON-DISCLOSURE/CONCEALMENT

- 65. Plaintiff refers to and incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.
- 66. Defendants owed a duty to Plaintiff to disclose important facts, such as the medical necessity of Plaintiff's medical care, to Plaintiff.
- 67. Defendants knew that the medical care Defendants provided to Plaintiff was not medically necessary and failed to disclose this to Plaintiff.
- 68. Plaintiff did not know that the medical care provided by Defendants was not medically necessary.
- 69. Defendants' failure to disclose the fact that Plaintiff's medical care was not necessary was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff's damages. Had Plaintiff known that her closure surgery was not necessary, Plaintiff would not have undergone the surgery.
- 70. Plaintiff has been injured and is entitled to recover general and special damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

EQUITABLE TOLLING/FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT

- 85. Plaintiff refers to and incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.
- 86. Because of Defendants' concealment of material facts and misleading conduct, Plaintiff was not aware of her causes of action.
- 87. Defendants took affirmative steps to conceal Plaintiff's cause of action. Given Defendants' concealment and misleading conduct, a

reasonable plaintiff would not have discovered the cause of action earlier.

- 88. Neither Sorenson, nor St. Mark's ever notified Plaintiff that she had received an unnecessary procedure, that she was never indicated for the surgery to begin with, that the device implanted into Plaintiff was never medically necessary, was retained in her body for no medical purpose, and that the informed consent contained fraudulent, misleading, and/or incomplete statements. Neither Sorenson, nor St. Mark's, ever compensated Plaintiff for the unnecessary medical surgery she underwent by reimbursing the costs of the procedure.
- 89. Neither Sorensen, nor St. Mark's, ever made a public statement, sent a letter, made a public announcement, or issued a press release to inform patients, such as Plaintiff, that they may have had medically unnecessary closures.
- 90. Defendants' misrepresentations and misleading conduct constitutes fraudulent concealment that tolls any proffered statute of limitation that may otherwise bar the recovery sought by Plaintiff.
- 91. Plaintiff did not know, nor should have known, of the causes of action against Defendants prior to being put on notice of Defendants' potential liability recently. She neither discovered, nor reasonably should have discovered, the facts underlying her causes of action before any proffered statute of limitations period expired.
- 92. As a result of Defendants' concealment of the true character, quality and nature of their conduct, they are estopped from relying on any statute of limitations defense. Defendants' affirmative acts and omissions, before, during, and/or after their actions causing Plaintiff's injury prevented Plaintiff from discovering the injury or cause thereof until recently. Such conduct tolls the limitations pursuant to the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act 78B-3-404(b).
- 93. Defendants' conduct, because it was purposely committed, was known or should have been known by them to be dangerous,

heedless, reckless, and without regard to the consequences or the rights and safety of Plaintiff.

(Bright 135–136, 138–139.) Ms. Merlo-Schmucker and Ms. Bright have asserted identical allegations to support their "fraudulent concealment" and tolling claims. (*See* Merlo-Schmucker 109–110, 112–113.) Ms. Tapp's allegations only differ slightly, and the differences are not material. (Tapp 142, 145–146.)

Procedural Posture

This appeal stems from three interlocutory orders denying Appellants' motions to dismiss. Each motion to dismiss was decided by a different judge in the Third District Court, but the decisions were similar. Each district court judge voiced at least some uncertainty about whether the motions to dismiss should be granted or denied, but ultimately decided to allow the cases to proceed.

Johannah Bright

On December 8, 2017, Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's moved to dismiss Ms. Bright's complaint under rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, arguing her complaint was barred by the Act's four-year statute of repose. (Bright 20–38.) Ms. Bright then amended her complaint to include additional factual allegations in support of her fraudulent concealment and equitable tolling arguments. (*Id.* at 82–102.] On January 18, 2018, Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's again moved to dismiss

the case on similar grounds as before. (*Id.* at 228–251.) Ms. Bright filed a combined response on February 1, 2018. (*Id.* at 255–278.)

Judge Laura Scott denied Dr. Sorensen's motion in a written Ruling and Order Re Pending Motions to Dismiss. (*Id.* at 372–373, 374–390.] In relevant part, the district court made three major findings. First, it determined that Ms. Bright was not required to plead fraudulent concealment with any level of particularity as required by Rule 9(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (*Id.* at 380–81.) "The court is not convinced that Rule 9(c) requires a plaintiff to plead defensive fraudulent concealment in her complaint in anticipation that a defendant may assert the statute of limitation or statute of repose in a motion to dismiss." (*Id.* at 380.)

Second, the court rejected the argument that the Act's fraudulent concealment exception requires a showing of a subsequent affirmative act to fraudulently conceal the health care provider's misconduct. (*Id.* 380–82.) It further concluded that, in any event, Ms. Bright has alleged some affirmative acts after the surgery, including his follow-up treatment and billing." (*Id.* at 382.)

Finally, the court determined that whether a plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence in not bringing her claims timely "is a fact-intensive matter for the fact

finder to ascertain except in only 'the clearest of cases.'" (*Id.*) It appears to have relied on equitable tolling considerations, not the plain language of the statutory exceptions. (*Id.* at 382–383.)

Pia Merlo-Schmucker

On November 30, 2017, Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's moved to dismiss Ms. Merlo-Schmucker's complaint under Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, arguing that her complaint was barred by the Act's four-year statute of repose. (Merlo 19-36.] Ms. Merlo-Schmucker amended her complaint to include additional factual allegation. (*Id.* at 96–115.) On January 18, 2018, Dr. Sorensen and St. Mark's moved to dismiss her amended complaint on similar grounds. (*Id.* at 190–212.) Ms. Merlo-Schmucker filed a combined response, arguing that she was prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of the health care provider because the provider had affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct. (*Id.* at 216–239, 243–266.)

After full briefing and argument on the motions, Judge Patrick Corum explained:

It is not clear from the Amended Complaint whether any Defendant acted affirmatively within the meaning of the statute to fraudulently conceal anything. The word "affirmatively" was presumably and advisedly put in the statute—78B-3-404(1)—with meaning, and it

appears to have a meaning different from the common law. Under the statute, some affirmative act of concealment is necessary to maintain an otherwise time-barred action. Defendants' argument that inaction or omission by a defendant is not sufficient to overcome the time bar appears to be well taken.

That being said the Court is not convinced this issue is procedurally ripe at the Rule 12(b) stage and questions whether the Plaintiff is obligated to combat an affirmative defense, however, likely or inevitably it is to be raised, in its initial pleading.

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