Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

Johannah Bright, Appellee, v. Sherman Sorensen, M.D., Sorensen Cardiovascular Group, and St. Mark's Hospital, Appellants. Pia Merlo-Schmucker, Appellee, v. Sherman Sorensen, M.D., Sorensen Cardiovascular Group, and St. Mark's Hospital, Appellants. Lisa Tapp, Appellee, v. Sherman Sorensen, M.D., Sorensen Cardiovascular Group, and Ihc Health Services, Inc., Appellants : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals argue that the exception to motions to dismiss being procedurally unavailable applies here. (Sorensen Op. Br. at 44-46;

Intermountain Op. Br. at 10; St. Mark's Op. Br. at 30-36.) They assert that the complaints, on their faces, establish that the claims are time-barred.

But the motions to dismiss were not procedurally available here. The face of each complaint does not show that the patient filed more than a year after discovering the fraudulent concealment. Ms. Tapp's complaint alleges that she discovered her legal injury in 2017, the year she filed her complaint. [T.R.145,147.] Ms. Tapp's complaint therefore shows only that she filed it within the one-year period provided by the fraudulent concealment exception. And Ms. Bright's and Ms. Merlo-Schmucker's complaints do not provide the date upon which they discovered their legal injuries. [M.R.96-114; B.R.82-101.]

None of the complaints contain the allegation necessary to establish an affirmative defense that the claims are untimely as a matter of law at the motion to dismiss stage. The motions to dismiss were procedurally unavailable, and the district courts correctly denied them.

The district courts agreed that the timeliness question was inappropriate for a motion to dismiss and should instead be adjudicated on summary judgment or, depending upon the evidence discovered, at trial. [T.R.735; M.R.403; B.R.380.] And they agreed that the patients are entitled to discovery on facts related to the exception. [T.R.735; M.R.403; B.R.380.] As one court put it, "[t]he issue of whether the plaintiff[s] can prove fraudulent concealment required under [the statutory exception] will have to be based upon what we

learn factually in discovery and to be decided at summary judgment or at trial." [T.R.735.]

The district courts were correct. Under Utah law, Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals could – and should – have raised the statute of repose defense in a summary judgment motion. *E.g., Berenda v. Langford,* 914 P.2d 45, 47 (Utah 1996). But because they instead filed motions to dismiss, the courts could have adjudicated the motions only if they treated the motions as motions for summary judgment. *Tucker,* 2002 UT 54, ¶ 11. And the courts were not required to convert the motions.

This court has been clear about the rule: "where a plaintiff's complaint describes events which establish when a statute of limitations begins to run but fails to explicitly set forth the relevant date on which those events occurred, a defendant may raise a statute of limitations defense in a motion to dismiss under rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, *provided that the trial court treats the motion as one for summary judgment*, thus giving all parties the 'reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion." *Id.* (quoting Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)) (emphasis added).

The rule allows the non-moving party to respond to the motion by requesting limited discovery to obtain evidence to oppose the defense. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(d)(2). This allows the statutory exception to the statute of repose to be

adjudicated at the beginning of the lawsuit, but only after all of the evidence is brought to light.

This practice is consistent with this court's case law. For example, in *Tucker*, the defendant asserted a statute of limitation defense in a motion to dismiss. 2002 UT 54, ¶ 10. The district court exercised its discretion to treat the motion as one for summary judgment. *Id.* And in doing so, "the trial court became able to ascertain the relevant date for statute of limitations purposes." *Id.*

The trial court followed the same procedure in *Colosimo*. The defendants asserted a statute of limitation defense in motions to dismiss. *Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 2007 UT 25, ¶ 7, 156 P.3d 806. The district court adjudicated the timeliness issue, but only after treating the motions to dismiss as summary judgment motions and considering evidence in the form of affidavits. *Id.* ¶ 8.

But here, neither Dr. Sorensen nor the hospitals asked the courts to treat their motions as motions for summary judgment. Nor do they argue on appeal that the courts abused their discretion in declining to do so sua sponte. The district courts were correct in declining to adjudicate the exception to the affirmative defense at the pleadings stage.

1.4 The Allegations Are Sufficient Because Rule 9(c) Does Not Apply

The district courts also correctly ruled that the patients did not need to plead with particularity their allegations related to the exception. [T.R.734-35; M.R.402-03; B.R.380.]

Rule 9 states that, "[i]n alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake." Utah R. Civ. P. 9(c). Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals assert that the patients' complaints "alleg[ed] fraud" related to the fraudulent concealment exception to the statute of repose.

But the particularity requirement applies to affirmative causes of action and affirmative defenses, not to allegations related to an exception to a statute of repose. This makes sense because a plaintiff has no obligation to anticipate any affirmative defenses when drafting a complaint. *E.g.*, *Brehany*, 812 P.2d at 59. It would be difficult to impose a particularity requirement on allegations that anticipate affirmative defenses that have not yet been, and may never be, pled.

And rule 9 goes on to clarify that allegations related to a statute of limitation defense "may be alleged generally" – i.e., not with particularity:

In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the statute.

Id. R. 9(i). It is difficult to understand why the burden would be greater in a complaint responding to this defense before it is raised.

The position of Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals conflates the requirements for the patients' causes of action (which must be pled with particularity) with the requirements for their allegations related to the exception to the statute of repose. The particularity requirement in rule 9(c) applies only to the allegations required in rule 8, and rule 8 does not require allegations related to exceptions to affirmative defenses.

Specifically, rule 8 describes what must be alleged in pleadings – claims, defenses to claims, and affirmative defenses. Utah R. Civ. P. 8(a)-(c). Rule 9 then specifies how those allegations must be made if they are related to fraud claims or defenses. Rule 9 provides that, "[i]n alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake." *Id.* R. 9(c). The rule "supplements but does not supplant Rule 8['s] notice pleading" standard. *U.S. ex rel. Grubbs v. Kanneganti,* 565 F.3d 180, 186 (5th Cir. 2009). In other words, rule 9 clarifies how fraud must be alleged when an allegation of fraud is required under rule 8. It does not add to the list of what must be alleged.

Instead, the *statute* governs what must be alleged. It provides that a patient must allege that she "has been prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of a health care provider because that health care provider has affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct." Utah Code § 78B-3-404(2)(b). The statute does not require the fraudulent concealment to be pled with particularity. Nor does it require the patient to describe how the health care provider fraudulently concealed the misconduct. It requires only an allegation that the health care provider fraudulently concealed the misconduct.

The minimal requirement makes sense at the pleading stage, when the patient has not yet discovered the full details of the fraud. Once the patient

alleges that the health care provider fraudulently concealed the misconduct, the one-year fraudulent concealment exception is in play. The patient, after discovery, must later prove that she commenced the claim within one year after the patient "discover[ed], or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the fraudulent concealment, whichever first occur[ed]." *Id.*

This court's case law draws the same distinction between claims and exceptions to statutes of repose. *Jensen III*, 2003 UT 51, ¶ 35 n.10. As this court put it, "[t]he term 'independent fraud claim' refers to plaintiffs' cause of action for fraudulent concealment. This cause of action is separate from plaintiffs' allegations of fraudulent concealment for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations." *Id.*

This explains why the district courts here ruled that the patients' allegations of fraudulent concealment for purposes of the exception were sufficient, yet dismissed their causes of action for fraud against the hospitals as insufficiently pled under rule 9(c). [T.R.734-36; M.R.402-03; B.R.380,386-87.] As one of the courts correctly explained, "[i]t is important to note that there is a distinction here between the fraud associated with the 2008 surgery and any alleged fraud that took place thereafter that is relevant to [the] statute of limitation/repose." [T.R.736.]

Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals, however, argue that that Utah courts have dismissed complaints that fail to allege with particularity fraudulent

concealment that is an anticipatory response to a statute of repose defense. (Intermountain Op. Br. at 16-19; Sorensen Op. Br. at 53-58; St. Mark's Op. Br. at 18-26.) The opposite is true. No opinion from this court has ever held that the 9(c) requirement applies to allegations concerning the statutory exceptions.

Most of the opinions cited by Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals explain that the 9(c) requirement applies to all fraud-based causes of action, including "misrepresentations, omissions, or other deceptions covered by the term 'fraud' in its broadest dimension" – an issue that is not raised or disputed here. *Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 656 P.2d 966, 971 (Utah 1982); (Intermountain Op. Br. at 16).⁴

Dr. Sorensen also cites *Christensen v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission* as explaining the pleading requirements for a fraud claim. (Sorensen Op. Br. at 54 (citing 579 P.2d 335, 338 (Utah 1987)).) But the quote comes from a dissenting opinion in the case, which affirms findings made by a board of review of an industrial commission. 579 P.2d at 335, 338. It is neither a holding of this court nor relevant to any of the issues presented here.

⁴ See also Precision Vascular Sys., Inc. v. Sarcos, L.C., 199 F. Supp. 2d 1181, 1191-92 (D. Utah 2002) (Sorensen Op. Br. at 53); State v. Apotex Corp., 2012 UT 36, ¶ 22, 282 P.3d 66 (Intermountain Op. Br. at 16 n.19); Armed Forces Ins. Exch. V. Harrison, 2003 UT 14, ¶¶ 16-18, 50 P.3d 35 (Sorensen Op. Br. at 54); Robinson v. Robinson, 2016 UT App 33, ¶¶ 49-50, 368 P.3d 105 (St. Mark's Op. Br. at 20); Fid. Nat'l Title Ins. Co. v. Worthington, 2015 UT App 19, ¶ 18, 344 P.3d 156 (Sorensen Op. Br. at 55; St. Mark's Op. Br. at 19); Shah v. Intermountain Healthcare, Inc., 2013 UT App 261, ¶¶ 10-12, 314 P.3d 1079 (St. Mark's Op. Br. at 20, 25-26).

A few of the other opinions that Intermountain cites explain that the 9(c) requirement applies to the defenses asserted in a defendant's answer – another issue not raised or disputed here. *GDE Constr., Inc. v. Leavitt,* 2012 UT App 298, ¶¶ 13-14, 294 P.3d 567 (Intermountain Op. Br. at 16 n.19); *Otsuka Elecs. (USA, Inc.) v. Imaging Specialists, Inc.,* 937 P.2d 1274, 1278 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (Intermountain Op. Br. at 16 n. 19).

Similarly, although Intermountain asserts that the Federal Practice & Procedure treatise "makes clear allegations of fraudulent concealment meant to toll a limitations period 'fall within the heightened pleading requirement of Rule 9(b),'" the quoted section of the current version of the treatise in fact addresses only the requirements of a defendant's answer. (Intermountain Op. Br. at 18-19.)

Intermountain does not quote the current version, so it is unclear whether a prior version conflated the rule as Intermountain suggests. (*Id.*) But the current version is clear and addresses only the requirements for a defendant's answer. It explains that, "inasmuch as the defense of fraud cannot be raised in an answer under a general denial because Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c) requires that defense to be pleaded affirmatively, the assertion of such a defense is an allegation of fraud and is subject to the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b)." 5A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. §1297 (4th ed. 2019). It therefore does not apply here.

The remaining opinions from Utah courts cited by Dr. Sorensen and the hospitals are more directly on point but do not change the result. (Intermountain Op. Br. at 17; Sorensen Op. Br. at 54; St. Mark's Op. Br. at 24.) For example, in *Chapman ex rel. Chapman v. Primary Children's Hospital*, this court held that the plaintiff's allegations of fraudulent concealment were sufficient to establish the applicability of the fraudulent concealment exception even though the same allegations were insufficient to support the independent causes of action for fraudulent concealment against some of the defendants. 784 P.2d 1181, 1184-86 (Utah 1989). Notably, the appeal was before the court on summary judgment, not after the denial of a motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 1185.

In *Chapman*, the plaintiffs alleged a cause of action for fraudulent concealment against several health care defendants. *Id.* at 1185-86. Although the plaintiffs filed the complaint more than a decade after the malpractice, the plaintiffs did not include in the complaint separate allegations related to the statutory exception. *Id.* at 1184.

Nonetheless, this court held that the statutory exception was properly invoked – and satisfied – by the allegations supporting the independent cause of action. *Id.* at 1184-85. As the court explained, the "plaintiffs' allegations of fraudulent concealment bring their causes of action under section 78-14-4(1)(b)," the prior codification of the statutory exception. *Id.* at 1184. The court construed

the allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs and concluded that the exception applied and the lawsuit "was therefore timely." *Id.* at 1184-85.

In determining whether the exception applied, the court did not analyze the 9(c) pleading requirements. *Id.* Nor did it suggest that they would apply to the exception. *Id.* Intermountain is therefore mistaken when it asserts that in *Chapman*, "[t]his Court applied Rule 9 to the statute at issue here." (Intermountain Op. Br. at 17 (emphasis omitted).)

The *Chapman* court instead analyzed and applied the 9(c) pleading requirements only with respect to the affirmative claims for fraud. *Chapman*, 784 P.2d at 1185-87. In so doing, the court held that, under rule 9(c), the allegations against the doctor and the hospital were sufficient, but the allegations against the remaining defendants were not. *Id.* at 1187.

Of course, those were the same allegations that the court deemed sufficient to render the complaint timely. *Id.* at 1184-85. The *Chapman* opinion therefore confirms that rule 9(c) applies to independent causes of action but not to the fraudulent concealment exception.

The second opinion is *Roth v. Pedersen*, an unpublished memorandum decision from the court of appeals. 2009 UT App 313, 2009 WL 3490974 (Mem. Dec.). (Intermountain Op. Br. at 18; Sorensen Op. Br. at 53; St. Mark's Op. Br. at 22.) Unlike this court's opinion in *Chapman*, the panel in *Roth* did suggest that rule 9(c) applies to the statutory exception. *Roth*, 2009 UT App 313, at *3. But the

panel did so only in dicta – the particularity requirement did not form the basis for the decision. *Id.*

Instead, the panel held that the plaintiff's malpractice action against a doctor was time-barred because he filed it more than four years after he became aware of the malpractice. *Id.* at *2. There was no question that the plaintiff immediately understood he had been harmed. *Id.* Indeed, the surgeon removed the wrong part of the plaintiff's body and he had to undergo "corrective surgery" to remove the correct part. *Id.* The question was only whether the plaintiff's cause of action against the doctor simultaneously accrued. *Id.*

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